IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

V.

Supreme Court No.: 19-0142 (Circuit Court No.: 18-F-241) (Harrison County, West Virginia)

MARK A. WILSON, JR.

Petitioner.



PETITIONER'S BRIEF

JUSTIN M. COLLIN West Virginia State Bar #10003 Appellate Counsel Appellate Advocacy Division Public Defender Services One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 PH: (304) 741-8647

FX: (304) 558-6612 justin.m.collin@wv.gov

Counsel for Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on fleeing in a vehicle as a lesser included offense because it is impossible to flee in a vehicle with reckless indifference without first fleeing in a vehicle.
- II. The trial court's flight instruction was an abuse of discretion in this case because there was no flight after the charged crime. Petitioner committed one act of flight that began on the interstate and ended when he escaped on foot.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court sentenced Petitioner to a term of not less than 1 nor more than 5 years after a jury convicted him of fleeing with reckless indifference. The trial court's giving of a flight instruction, and refusal to instruct on a lesser included offense impeded the fact finding mission of the jury and warrants a new trial.

a. Trooper Jones, the only witness, testified that Petitioner led him on a high speed chase that ended when Petitioner abandoned his vehicle and escaped on foot.

On October 8, 2017, Trooper Jones was traveling on interstate and spotted Petitioner driving a multicolored pickup truck with a DOH license plate. A. R. 119. As Trooper Jones passed Petitioner's vehicle, he noticed the driver pull the hood of his sweatshirt over his head. *Id.* Because the plates did not look like they belonged on the truck, Trooper Jones got behind the Petitioner and "ran the plates through dispatch." *Id.* Dispatch found no record of the plates, and Trooper Jones activated his lights to stop the truck. *Id.*

Petitioner exited the interstate, turned at a stop sign, and accelerated. *Id.* Trooper Jones activated his lights, sirens, and dash camera to give chase. *Id.* During the pursuit, Petitioner

¹ Most of the pursuit was captured on Trooper Jones's dashcam and was introduced into evidence. The appendix includes a copy of the video on page 351.

drove up to 30 m.p.h. over the speed limit. A. R. 121-23. Trooper Jones testified that Petitioner drove left of center on multiple occasions, almost caused a head on collision, did not stop at stop signs, and drove through a yard. A. R. 122. Petitioner eventually took the pursuit off road by ramming and driving through fences and gates. A. R. 123-24. At this point, multiple police officers had joined the chase. A. R. 129. When Petitioner was unable to ram through a gate, Trooper Jones and several other officers exited their vehicles to apprehend him. A. R. 133, 351. When Petitioner broke through the gate, Trooper Jones returned to his vehicle, but he briefly lost sight of Petitioner. By the time Trooper Jones caught up to the vehicle, Petitioner had abandoned it in a field and escaped on foot. A. R. 124, 351. Trooper Jones found Petitioner's wallet, identification card, and mail near the truck. A. R. 130-32. According to the VIN number, Petitioner registered the truck. A. R. 134.

Detachment in Fairmont to remove his truck from the sex offender registry. A. R. 134. The

Trooper who updated Petitioner's sex offender registry recognized the truck as the same vehicle
involved in the pursuit and contacted Trooper Jones. *Id.* Trooper Jones traveled to the Fairmont
Detachment and attempted to interview Petitioner. A. R. 135. Petitioner declined the interview
but made incriminating statements. *Id.* He asked whether his father could pay for the damage to
make everything go away, and he informed Trooper Jones that "the plate was not stolen" but
found on a vehicle behind his father's house. A. R. 136. Trooper Jones also observed that
Petitioner had a black eye and was "covered from head to toe, hands, face and everything with
scratches and scrapes as though he just ran through the woods or some briars." A. R. 137.

During the September 2018 term of court, Petitioner was charged by indictment with Fleeing in a Vehicle with Reckless Indifference to the Safety of Others, Felony Destruction of Property, and Misdemeanor Destruction of Property. A. R. 207-09. Prior to trial, the circuit court held Petitioner's statements were voluntary and dismissed both destruction of property charges without prejudice. A. R. 45, 60.

Petitioner's theory of defense admitted flight but disputed that it was with reckless indifference.

During opening statements, Petitioner disputed the element of "reckless indifference to the safety of others." He asked the jury to focus on his actions during the chase that did not put others at risk or only put him at risk. For example, using his turn signal, slowing down for oncoming traffic, and leaving main roads in favor of less traveled back roads. A. R. 113.

Petitioner's cross examination of Trooper Jones, the only witness, continued to dispute the "reckless indifference to the safety of others" element. Petitioner argued that the chase presented minimal danger because of the light traffic. A. R. 138. Petitioner never tried to ram any vehicles or police cruisers. A. R. 138-40. Petitioner argued that he slowed down and pulled off to the side of the road because a truck was coming the other way. A. R. 139. He elicited testimony that the police call off vehicle pursuits if there is imminent danger to the officer or public. A. R. 141. He disputed that there was almost a head on collision with a street sweeper because it did not swerve. A. R. 142. Finally, the damage to Petitioner's truck from driving through fences was evidence that he got off main roads and away from the public. A. R. 143.

During closing arguments, Petitioner conceded flight in a vehicle but disputed the "with reckless indifference to the safety of others" element. Petitioner's first statement during closing argument was "[a]gain, it appears that [the State] and I disagree as to what reckless indifference means." A. R. 163. Petitioner then proceeded to argue that while his driving may have been reckless, the evidence showed it was not with indifference to the safety of others. A. R. 163-64. Petitioner reiterated this argument in his motion for judgment of acquittal. A. R. 184-86.

c. Petitioner objected to the flight instruction because the indictment charged fleeing.

While arguing jury instructions prior to closing arguments, the State offered a flight instruction:

The Court instructs the jury that evidence of flight by the defendant is competent, along with other facts and circumstances on the defendant's guilt, but the jury should consider such evidence of flight with caution since such evidence has only a slight tendency to prove guilt.

The jury is further instructed that the farther away the flight is from the time of the alleged commission of the offense the less weight it will be entitled to, and the circumstances should be cautiously considered since flight may be attributed to a number of reasons other than the consciousness of guilt.

A. R. 158-59. The State argued that the instruction was proper because Petitioner left the scene of the crime when he abandoned his truck and fled. Petitioner objected, and argued the instruction was unnecessary because the indictment charged Petitioner with fleeing. A. R. 147-48. The Petitioner further argued against the instruction because there was no notice of the State's intent to use evidence of flight after the fact and, because there was no pretrial hearing regarding the flight evidence. Ultimately, the State moved to withdraw the instruction. The trial court stated that there was no hearing because neither party requested one, denied the State's motion to withdraw the instruction, and ruled that the instruction would be given. *Id*.

d. The trial court denied Petitioner's motion to instruct the jury on fleeing in a vehicle as a lesser included offense.

After ruling on the flight instruction, the trial court asked whether there was a lesser included offense. A. R. 148. The State argued that the evidence presented did not warrant a lesser included. A. R. 148-49. Petitioner responded that it "would be a regular fleeing without reckless indifference to others." A. R. 149. The trial court ruled for the State and held that there was no factual basis for the lesser included offense. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State charged Petitioner with fleeing in a vehicle with reckless indifference. Yet, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion for the lesser included offense of fleeing in a vehicle because there was "no factual basis" for it. Id. The law regarding lesser included offenses is well settled. It is reversable error for a trial court to not instruct a jury on a lesser included offense if the offense is included in the greater offense, there is evidence to establish the lesser offense, and there is an evidentiary dispute regarding an element unique to the greater offense. State v. Davis, 205 W. Va. 569, 573, 519 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1999) citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Jones, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1985); Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982). As a matter of law, fleeing in a vehicle is a lesser included of fleeing with reckless indifference by virtue of its elements. It is impossible to commit the crime of fleeing with reckless indifference without also committing the crime of fleeing in a vehicle. Trooper Jones's testimony, and Petitioner's defense strategy to admit fleeing in a vehicle proved the factual basis for the lesser offense. The evidentiary dispute regarding an element of the greater offense was demonstrated in Petitioner's defense which exclusively attacked the reckless indifference element not contained in the lesser offense.

The trial court also gave a flight instruction because Petitioner escaped on foot after abandoning his vehicle. The instruction correctly stated the law: flight after the commission of a crime is evidence of consciousness of guilt. However, it was error to give the instruction in this case. When Petitioner abandoned his vehicle and escaped, he was not committing a separate act of fleeing that showed a consciousness of guilt. His flight was one continuous attempt to avoid capture that began in his vehicle and ended when he escaped. By giving the jury a flight instruction, the trial court told the jury it could find Petitioner guilty of fleeing with reckless

indifference because he fled after abandoning his vehicle. A latter stage of flight is not evidence of guilt for an earlier stage of the same flight.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests a Rule 19 argument and signed opinion as the law regarding lesser included offenses, and flight instructions is well settled; however, this Court has not ruled whether a flight instruction is proper when the charged crime contains an element of fleeing.

ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error when it denied Petitioner's motion for a
jury instruction on the lesser included offense of fleeing in a vehicle.

A trial court must instruct the jury on a lesser included offense if a two prong test is met. First, is "the lesser offense.". by virtue of its legal elements or definition included in the greater offense." State v. Davis, 205 W. Va. 569, 573, 519 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1999) citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Jones, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1985). Second, is there "evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense." Id. Additionally, there must be an "evidentiary dispute or insufficiency on the elements of the greater offense which are different from the elements of the lesser included offense..." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982). The Supreme Court of the United States explained that "[a] lesser-included offense instruction is only proper where the charged greater offense requires the jury to find a disputed factual element which is not required for conviction of the lesser-included offense." State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662, 665, 295 S.E.2d 902, 905 (1982) citing Sansone v. United States, 380 U.S. 343, 350 (1965).

The trial court denied the lesser included offense because it lacked a factual basis. A. R. 149. The crimes listed in the obstruction statute, including fleeing and fleeing with reckless indifference, share a common core element: fleeing. The greater offenses build on that core element by adding aggravating facts/elements. A vehicle is added to fleeing, reckless

indifference is added to fleeing in a vehicle, etc. The facts and elements are inextricably intertwined and the greater offense cannot be committed without first committing the lesser offense. A factual basis for the greater offense presupposes the lesser included offense. Thus, the trial court's finding of insufficient facts ruled on the elements as well as the facts. Whether a lesser offense instruction is warranted by virtue of its elements is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*, questions of fact are reviewed for clear error. *See* Syl. Pt. 4, *Burgess v. Porterfield*, 196 W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996).

a. Fleeing in a vehicle is a lesser included of fleeing with reckless indifference by virtue of its elements.

As a matter of law, fleeing in a vehicle is by its definition and elements a lesser included of fleeing in a vehicle with reckless indifference as "[i]t is impossible to commit the greater offense without first having committed the lesser offense." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982) citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Louk, 169 W.Va. 24, 285 S.E.2d 432 (1981). Fleeing in a vehicle does not include any elements not found in fleeing with reckless indifference. W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(e); W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(f). On the other hand, fleeing with reckless indifference includes every element of fleeing in a vehicle. Id. The only difference between the two offenses is that the greater offense includes the element of "operat[ing] the vehicle in a manner showing a reckless indifference to the safety of others . . ." Id. Thus, as a matter of law, fleeing in a vehicle is a lesser included of fleeing with reckless indifference. Given the nature of the elements, the trial court's finding of a factual basis for the greater offense necessarily includes a factual basis for the lesser offense.

The trial court's finding of an insufficient factual basis for a lesser included offense is clearly erroneous.

Despite the intertwinement of elements and facts, the trial court held that there was no factual basis for fleeing in a vehicle as a lesser included offense. A. R. 149. This holding presents clear error and requires reversal of Petitioner's conviction. The factual basis to prove the lesser offense was established during the trial. The pursuit was caught on video, Petitioner's identification card and mail were found near the abandoned truck, the truck was registered in Petitioner's name, Petitioner made incriminating statements, and most importantly, Petitioner's defense admitted fleeing but disputed "with reckless indifference." A. R. 130-36, 351. This is sufficient evidence to establish the lesser offense and it was clear error to rule otherwise.

A factual basis for a lesser offense is not missing if the State presents a strong case for the greater offense. It is missing, for example, when the defense requests a larceny instruction, but the facts only show that the defendant robbed a victim at knife point. *State v. Neider*, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982). It is also missing if a defendant requests an instruction on involuntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense of first degree murder when the defense during trial was innocence. *State v. Davis*, 205 W. Va. 569, 519 S.E.2d 852 (1999). Petitioner did not argue identity or alibi. Therefore, there was "evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense." *State v. Davis*, 205 W. Va. 569, 573, 519 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1999) citing Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Jones*, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1985).

Finally, Petitioner's defense established an evidentiary dispute of the "reckless indifference to the safety of others" element. To the extent the trial court ruled otherwise, the ruling is clear error. During Petitioner's opening statement, cross examination of Trooper Jones, motion for judgment of acquittal, closing argument, and renewed motion for judgment of

acquittal, he admitted to fleeing in a vehicle but disputed that the fleeing was with reckless indifference to the safety of others. A. R. 113, 138-43, 146, 163-64, 184-86.

II. Petitioner's flight was a single act that began in his vehicle and ended after he escaped on foot. The trial court's flight instruction erroneously told the jury it could consider the latter stages of Petitioner's flight as consciousness of guilt for the beginning stages of his flight. This Court should hold that it constitutes error to give a flight instruction if the charged offense contains an element of fleeing.

The trial court gave a flight instruction because Petitioner abandoned his vehicle during the pursuit and escaped on foot. A. R. 147. As early as 1888, and as recently as March 2019, this Court recognized that evidence of flight *after* the commission of a *different* crime is admissible as consciousness of guilt. *State v. Koontz*, 31 W. Va. 127, 5 S.E. 328, 329 (1888); *State v. Chester*, No. 18-0140, 2019 WL 1224684, at *2 (W. Va. Mar. 15, 2019) (memorandum decision). In other words, "flight is an admission by conduct." 2 McCormick On Evid. § 263 (7th ed.). The instruction given by the trial court mirrored the language approved in *State v. Payne*. *State v. Payne*, 167 W. Va. 252, 267–68, 280 S.E.2d 72, 81 (1981). However, it was an abuse of discretion to give the instruction in this case. Petitioner's flight was a single event. The instruction that a latter stage of Petitioner's flight was evidence of guilt for an earlier stage of the same flight confused the jury and commented on the weight of the evidence. Even if Petitioner's flight on foot warranted a flight instruction, the trial court committed error by not delineating the different instances of fleeing in its instruction.

a. When Petitioner abandoned his vehicle and escaped on foot it was a continuation of his flight that started on the interstate. A court cannot divide a police chase into distinct stages and instruct a jury to use a latter stage as evidence of guilt for an earlier stage.

The cases regarding flight instructions show clear distinctions between the charged criminal conduct and the flight. The charged conduct occurs first, it is factually distinct from the flight, and it is the motivation for the flight. The flight necessarily occurs after the commission of the charged conduct, constitutes a separate act, and is motivated by the charged conduct. For example, this Court has held flight admissible as evidence of guilt after the commission of

murder, forgery, robbery, malicious wounding, sexual assault, and aiding and abetting first degree murder.²

In contrast, Petitioner's flight was a single criminal episode that started in a vehicle and ended after he escaped on foot. Petitioner's escape after abandoning the truck was not an independent and separate action from his flight in the truck. He was not fleeing from the scene of his "flight crime." The "flight crime scene" moved with Petitioner and did not end when he changed his means of flight from vehicular to pedestrian. Nor did the fact that the police temporarily lost sight of Petitioner's vehicle break the chain of flight. See A. R. 351. The police continued their pursuit and Petitioner continued his flight. Additionally, Petitioner's motive did not change during the entire flight. He was singularly concerned with avoiding capture from the time Trooper Jones tried to stop him on the interstate until he successfully escaped after abandoning his truck.

The general rule is that courts cannot comment on evidence. West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 30; Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Spadafore, 159 W. Va. 236, 220 S.E.2d 655 (1975); Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Crockett, 164 W. Va. 435, 265 S.E.2d 268 (1979). Flight instructions are an exception to this rule as they inherently comment on evidence of flight. Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292, 294 (Fla. 1992) (holding that a flight instruction "provides an exception to the rule that the judge should not invade the province of the jury by commenting on the evidence or indicating what inferences may be drawn from it."). However, because Petitioner's flight was one continuous act, the flight instruction was an abuse of discretion; it addressed an element of the offense as opposed to the offense in general. A court cannot comment on the evidence by "[singling] out for emphasis a part of the evidence tending to establish a particular fact." Graves v. Commonwealth, 65 Va. App. 702, 711, 780 S.E.2d 904, 908 (2016). The trial court's instruction told the jury that the latter stage of Petitioner's flight could be used as evidence of his

² State v. Deskins, 181 W. Va. 112, 380 S.E.2d 676 (1989) (per curiam); State v. Mayle, 136 W. Va. 936, 69 S.E.2d 212 (1952); State v. Spence, 182 W. Va. 472, 388 S.E.2d 498 (1989); State v. Jennings, 178 W. Va. 365, 359 S.E.2d 593 (1987) (per curiam); State v. Richey, 171 W. Va. 342, 298 S.E.2d 879 (1982); State v. Harper, 179 W. Va. 24, 365 S.E.2d 69 (1987).

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