FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State charged Petitioner with fleeing in a vehicle with reckless indifference to the safety of others. The trial court denied Petitioner's motion for a lesser included offense instruction of fleeing in a vehicle because there was no factual basis for that offense grounded on the evidence presented to the Court. A trial court must instruct the jury on a lesser included offense if a two prong test is met. The first prong is satisfied if the lesser offense is included in the greater offense.

State v. Davis, 205 W. Va. 569, 573, 519 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1999) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Jones, 174 W. Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1985)). The second prong is satisfied if there is evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense. *Id.* Under this prong, if there is an evidentiary dispute or insufficiency on the elements of the greater offense which are not included in the lesser included offense, then the defendant is entitled to a jury instruction for the lesser included offense. State v. Wilkerson, 230 W. Va. 366, 370, 738 S.E.2d 32, 36 (2013) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Neider, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982)).

In the case at bar, the first prong is satisfied because fleeing in a vehicle, the lesser offense, is by virtue of its definition included in fleeing with reckless indifference, the greater offense. In order to commit the crime of fleeing with reckless indifference to the safety of others, one must necessarily flee in a vehicle. However, the second prong is not satisfied, because overwhelming evidence in support of the greater offense is grounds for a court refusing to give a jury instruction on the lesser included offense. Further, even when the grounds for requesting a jury instruction on the lesser included offense are technically true, those grounds may not be sufficient to show the trial court committed reversible error. Even though Petitioner points to some instances when reasonable driving practices were followed, Petitioner's repeated and substantial traffic violations demonstrate a reckless indifference to the safety of others, and so no instruction on the lesser offense is warranted.

Additionally, the trial court's flight instruction concerning Petitioner escaping on foot to flee from the scene of the criminal activity was warranted. The instruction correctly stated the law and was relevant to this case, because the flight on foot from the truck was potential evidence of Petitioner's consciousness of guilt for having fled with reckless indifference while in the vehicle. While it is true that the offense in this case and Petitioner's escape from that offense both involved flight, the two flights were clearly separated by Petitioner abandoning his damaged vehicle along

with his ID, and losing the pursuit of the troopers. To avoid confusion, the jury instruction emphasized that two different flights occurred by including the statement, "the further away the flight is from the time of the alleged offense the less weight it will be entitled to[.]" The only "alleged offense" in this case was fleeing with reckless indifference. Thus, this instruction clearly differentiated between the flight that occurred on foot, and the alleged offense, particularly by explaining how the two can occur far away from one another.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. This case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996). Likewise, in *State v. Lease*, 196 W. Va. 318, 472 S.E.2d 59 (1996), this Court explained that we review a "trial court's failure to give a requested instruction or the giving of a particular instruction under an abuse of discretion standard" *Id.* at 322, 472 S.E.2d at 63; *see also State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 671, 461 S.E.2d 163, 177 (1995). Syllabus point eleven of *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994), specifies:

A trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction is reversible only if: (1) the instruction is a correct statement of the law; (2) it is not substantially covered in the charge actually given to the jury; and (3) it concerns an important point in the trial so that the failure to give it seriously impairs a defendant's ability to effectively present a given defense.

In Kessel v. Leavitt, 204 W. Va. 95, 511, S.E.2d 720 (1998), cert. denied 525 U.S. 1142, 119 S.Ct. 1035, 143 L.Ed.2d 43 (1999), this Court explained that where the alleged error is based

upon the trial court's refusal to give an instruction, this Court will presume that the lower court "acted correctly...unless it appears from the record in the case... that the instructions refused were correct and should have been given." *Id.* at 144, 511 S.E.2d at 769, *quoting Coleman v. Sopher*, 201 W. Va. 588, 602, 499 S.E.2d 592, 606 (1997) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

B. The trial court did not commit reversible error when it denied Petitioner's motion for a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of fleeing in a vehicle, because Petitioner was not entitled to such an instruction.

This Court has long held that the question of whether a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense involves a two-part inquiry. Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Jones*, 174 W. Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1985). The first inquiry is a legal one having to do with whether the lesser offense is by virtue of its legal elements or definition included in the greater offense. *Id.* Where "the lesser offense is by virtue of its legal elements or definition included in the greater offense," the first prong is satisfied. *State v. Davis*, 205 W. Va. 569, 573, 519 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1999) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Jones*, at 701, 329 S.E.2d at 66. The second inquiry is a factual one which involves a determination by the trial court of whether there is evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense. *Davis*, at 573, 519 S.E.2d at 856. Both parts of the test must be met before a trial court is required to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense. *See generally*, *id.* Here, Petitioner cannot satisfy both prongs, and this claim thus fails.

 Fleeing in a vehicle is a lesser included offense of fleeing with reckless indifference to the safety of others.

The first prong is satisfied because fleeing in a vehicle, the lesser offense, is by virtue of its definition included in fleeing with reckless indifference, the greater offense. W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(e); W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(f). A person flees in a vehicle when he "intentionally flees or attempts to flee in a vehicle from a law-enforcement officer, probation officer or parole officer

acting in his or her official capacity after the officer has given a clear visual or audible signal directing the person to stop " W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(e). A person flees with reckless indifference to the safety of others when he "intentionally flees or attempts to flee in a vehicle from a law-enforcement officer, probation officer or parole officer acting in his or her official capacity after the officer has given a clear visual or audible signal directing the person to stop, and who operates the vehicle in a manner showing a reckless indifference to the safety of others[.]" W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(f).

The only difference between these two offenses is that fleeing with reckless indifference has the additional element of "operat[ing] the vehicle in a manner showing reckless indifference to the safety of others." *Id.* All other elements of fleeing with reckless indifference are included in fleeing in a vehicle, and no element of fleeing in a vehicle is not also an element of fleeing with reckless indifference. *Id.* Because the definition of fleeing in a vehicle is wholly included in the definition of fleeing with reckless indifference, the first prong is satisfied.

 Because there is no evidentiary dispute or insufficiency of the elements of the greater offense of fleeing with reckless indifference, Petitioner cannot sustain his claim of entitlement to an instruction on the lesser included offense of fleeing in a vehicle.

The second prong requires that the trial court determine whether there is evidence in support of the lesser included offense. *Davis*, at 573, 519 S.E.2d at 856. Under this prong, when "there is no evidentiary dispute or insufficiency on the elements of the greater offense which are different from the elements of the lesser included offense, then the defendant is not entitled to a lesser included offense instruction." *State v. Wilkerson*, 230 W. Va. 366, 370, 738 S.E.2d 32, 36 (2013) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Neider*, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902 (1982)). In the case at bar, the only difference between the greater offense of fleeing with reckless indifference and the lesser offense of fleeing in a vehicle is the element of "operat[ing] the vehicle in a manner showing

reckless indifference to the safety of others." W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(e); W. Va. Code § 61-5-17(f). Therefore, if there is no evidentiary dispute or insufficiency on this element, then the second prong fails, and the trial court did not commit error in denying Petitioner's motion for a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of fleeing in a vehicle.

When reviewing sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction, "the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 668, 461 S.E.2d 163, 174 (1995). "When a criminal defendant undertakes a sufficiency challenge, all the evidence, direct and circumstantial, must be viewed from the prosecutor's coign of vantage, and the viewer must accept all reasonable inferences from it that are consistent with the verdict." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996).

Overwhelming evidence in support of the greater offense is grounds for a court to refuse giving a jury instruction on the lesser included offense. *State v. Richardson*, 240 W. Va. 310, 321-22, 811 S.E.2d 260, 271-72 (2018). In *Richardson*, the defendant's husband was found dead, and during a police interview, the defendant admitted to having devised a plan to kill her husband. *Id.* at 312, 811 S.E.2d 262. Upon being convicted for first degree murder, the defendant asserted the circuit court committed error by denying defendant's motion for a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of second degree murder. *Id.* at 321, 811 S.E.2d 271. However, because the defendant had planned to kill her husband, there was no evidentiary basis to support giving a second degree murder instruction. *Id.* at 322, 811 S.E.2d 272. The overwhelming evidence involving the defendant's plan plainly established premeditation, and so the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to give a jury instruction on the lesser included offense. *Id.*

Like in *Richardson*, here there is overwhelming evidence in support of the greater offense, which is fleeing with reckless indifference. While Trooper Jones was following Petitioner's truck, Petitioner made an improper passing, repeatedly drove on the left side of the road, nearly hit a street sweeper head-on, drove up to 30 miles per hour over the speed limit, drove through someone's yard, blew past multiple stop signs, drove through a gate which caused gravel to shoot up damaging the trooper's vehicle, failed to consistently use his blinker, drove through a field of horses, and drove through several fences which caused 300 feet of fence to wrap around the vehicle and drag behind it, all in an attempt to get away from the trooper. When Petitioner was not driving through people's yards and fields, the roads he drove on had light traffic, and cars pulled to the side of the road in an attempt to get out of Petitioner's way. The overwhelming evidence indicates that Petitioner operated his vehicle in a manner showing reckless indifference to the safety of others, and so the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give a jury instruction on the lesser included offense.

Even when the grounds for requesting a jury instruction on the lesser included offense are technically true, those grounds may not be sufficient to show the trial court committed reversible error. State v. Phillips, 199 W. Va. 507, 512, 485 S.E.2d 676, 681 (1997). In Phillips, the defendant used an air pistol to rob two restaurants, and employees testified that they believed the weapon was real. Id. at 510-11, 485 S.E.2d 679-80. The defendant was found guilty of two counts of aggravated robbery. Id. at 509-10, 485 S.E.2d 678-79. Subsequently, the defendant argued that the trial court committed error by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of nonaggravated robbery, on the grounds that the robbery was committed without an actual firearm. Id. at 511, 485 S.E.2d 680. Though these grounds were factually valid, the district court's decision to refuse giving jury instruction for the lesser included offense was not an error, because the use

of the air pistol still induced fear of bodily injury, which satisfied the additional element present in the greater offense, aggravated robbery. *Id.* at 512, 485 S.E.2d 681.

Like in *Phillips*, even though the grounds for Petitioner requesting a jury instruction on the lesser included offense are technically true, those grounds are not sufficient to show that the trial court committed reversible error. Petitioner's defense emphasizes that Petitioner abandoned his ID and mail when fleeing from his truck, the truck was registered in Petitioner's name, Petitioner made incriminating statements, and also that Petitioner's defense admitted fleeing but disputed "with reckless indifference" as a factual basis to prove the lesser offense was established during trial. While all of these pieces are factually true, they do nothing to negate Petitioner's clearly reckless driving and indifference to the safety of others. If anything, Petitioner's abandonment of identification, paired with his making of incriminating statements, further underlines his carelessness.

This is not a case where the facts involving the additional element of the greater offense are self-contradicting, thus requiring a jury instruction for the lesser included offense. *State v. Henning*, 238 W. Va. 193, 200, 793 S.E.2d 843, 850 (2016). For example, in *Henning*, the defendant cut a woman with a knife. *Id.* at 195, 793 S.E.2d 845. At first, the woman said she did not see the knife until after she was injured, but on cross-examination, she admitted to testifying at the preliminary hearing that she was cut after trying to grab the knife. *Id.* Also, when she first went to the hospital to treat her wound, she had told medical personnel that she had accidentally cut herself. *Id.* Even though the defendant was found guilty of malicious assault, a jury instruction for the lesser included offense of misdemeanor assault was warranted. *Id.* at 196-200, 793 S.E.2d 846-50. This is because, based on the woman's testimony, a reasonable jury could conclude that she was not being truthful, because of her self-contradicting statements of the facts. *Id.* at 200, 793 S.E.2d 850.

Unlike *Henning*, there is no evidence here that is self-contradicting or inconsistent which could give rise to requiring a jury instruction for a lesser included offense. While Petitioner disputed that the fleeing was with reckless indifference, Petitioner did not dispute any of the copious instances of breaking traffic laws in the attempt to escape from Trooper Jones. For example, Petitioner highlighted that there was light traffic instead of heavy traffic. But light traffic is still traffic and Petitioner's intentional conduct still endangered the safety of other motorists and innocent bystanders, as well as created the potential for a serious accident. Also, Petitioner argued that there was not almost a head-on collision with a street sweeper because the street sweeper did not swerve. In reality, the street sweeper did not swerve because it had nowhere to swerve to, not because its driver trusted Petitioner to correct its course and evade the vehicle. Additionally, Petitioner emphasizes his occasional use of his turn signal as appropriate driving behavior. But, Trooper Jones explained that while Petitioner did turn on his blinker, once it was turned on, Petitioner improperly left it on during the entire first portion of the chase and did not correctly use it to signal turning.

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